
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Jonathon Hanks <jon@iisd.org>, Wendy Jackson <wendy@iisd.org>, Hernan Lopez
<hernan@iisd.org>, Wagaki Mwangi <wagaki@iisd.org> and Chris Spence <chris@iisd.org>. The Digital Editors are Leila Mead <leila@iisd.org> and Ken Tong
<ken@iisd.org>. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James "Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The
Operations Manager is Marcela Rojo <marcela@iisd.org> and the On-Line Assistant is Diego Noguera <diego@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the
Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the United States (through USAID), the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forests and
Landscape (SAEFL), the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development  - DFID, and the Foreign & Commonwealth Office), the European Commission
(DG-ENV), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and the Government of Germany (through German Federal Ministry of Environment - BMU,  and the German Federal Ministry
of Development Cooperation - BMZ). General Support for the Bulletin during 2001 is provided by the Ministry of Environment and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Austria, the
Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Norway, the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Finland, the Government of Australia, the Ministry of
Environment and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Sweden, the French Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Japan Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for Global
Environmental Strategies - IGES.) The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. IISD can be contacted by e-
mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y4, Canada. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of
the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD and other funders. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications only and
only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this material in commercial publications, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services. Electronic versions of
the Bulletin are sent to e-mail distribution lists and can be found on the Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.ca. Free subscriptions available at http://iisd.ca/enb/email.asp.
The satellite image was taken above New York ©2001 The Living Earth, Inc. For information on the Earth Negotiations Bulletin, or to arrange for reporting from your conference
or workshop send e-mail to <kimo@iisd.org>.

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable DevelopmentVol. 5 No. 181 Thursday, 26 April 2001

Earth Negotiations Bulletin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

 # 9

CSD-9 online at http://www.iisd.ca/csd/csd9/

CSD-9

CSD-9 HIGHLIGHTS:
WEDNESDAY, 25 APRIL 2001

Delegates continued discussing draft decisions in three Drafting 
Groups. Drafting Group I met in an afternoon session to consider 
energy issues. Drafting Group II met in morning and afternoon 
sessions to address revised draft decisions on transport and on atmo-
sphere, and Drafting Group III met in a morning session to continue a 
first reading of the draft decision on international cooperation for an 
enabling environment, and in an evening session to begin the first 
reading of the revised draft decision on information for decision 
making and participation. 

DRAFTING GROUP I 
This Drafting Group, chaired by Alison Drayton (Guyana), 

completed a second reading of the negotiating text. Delegates agreed 
on text encouraging governments to develop “domestic programmes” 
on renewable energies. On advanced fossil fuel technologies, there 
was no agreement on whether to increase the “proportionate” or “rela-
tive” use of lower carbon fuels, or to promote carbon dioxide emission 
reductions. Text on indicators in the rural energy situation, and on 
energy and transport issues, remains bracketed. Regarding nuclear 
energy technologies, Chair Drayton proposed establishing a contact 
group, chaired by Gustavo Ainchil (Argentina), with delegates from 
the energy and transport drafting groups. INDIA and PAKISTAN 
objected to the CSD addressing nuclear proliferation.

On making markets work better, the EU proposed text on creating 
open and competitive energy markets underpinned by appropriate 
regulations. The G-77/CHINA added text on restructuring developed 
country energy taxes to take into account environmental pollution, and 
included language from UNGASS-19 on developing country capabili-
ties. On international cooperation, delegates agreed to include: SWIT-
ZERLAND’s reference to education; the G-77/CHINA’s amendments 
on “the critical role” of international cooperation and its text on the 
mobilization of resources, “including financial resources”;  and the 
EU’s proposal to refer “particularly” to developing countries. The EU, 
opposed by ANTIGUA AND BARBUDA and SAUDI ARABIA, 
proposed text on strengthening the coordination of existing UN 
bodies. This text was bracketed. 

On areas for international cooperation, delegates approved, inter 
alia, the EU’s reference to bilateral and multilateral development 
cooperation programmes, and text on promoting “affordable and 
energy efficient advanced” technologies. Various proposals were 
bracketed, including text on: ODA being “the bedrock of external 

funding”; debt “cancellation” or “relief”; an EU proposal on the devel-
opment of energy policy in poverty reduction strategy papers; and a G-
77/CHINA proposal on enhanced use of international mechanisms. 
ANTIGUA AND BARBUDA urged reference to promoting opportu-
nities for women through credit facilities.

DRAFTING GROUP II
This Group, chaired by Drayton, continued discussion on the 

revised draft decision on international cooperation for an enabling 
environment, addressing the section on international cooperation. 
They also completed the first reading of the revised draft decision on 
information for decision making and participation. New revised text 
was distributed for the sections on general considerations and interna-
tional cooperation of the draft decision on international cooperation 
for an enabling environment.

INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION FOR AN ENABLING 
ENVIRONMENT: Regarding international cooperation, the Group 
considered text on: finding a lasting solution to highly indebted poor 
country debt, market access; trade barriers and obstacles; investments 
in developing countries; technology transfer; and support to devel-
oping country implementation of national sustainable development 
strategies. Much of the text remains bracketed. Two new G-77/
CHINA proposals on the need to resolve the debt of middle-income 
developing countries and to transfer finances and environmentally 
sustainable technologies relating to the implementation of national 
sustainable development programmes and strategies remain brack-
eted.

Delegates agreed to: delete the subparagraphs welcoming UNEP’s 
work on methodologies for environmental impact assessment on trade 
policies, and referring to the Nairobi initiative of the Fifth Expert 
Group Meeting on Finance for Sustainable Development; and to refer 
to poverty “eradication,” and “investment for sustainable develop-
ment,” instead of “mechanisms to facilitate environmentally-sound 
technologies.” Participants agreed to work on the basis of JAPAN’s 
proposal based on a CSD-8 draft decision on the issue of trade liberal-
ization. However, the EU objected to a G-77/CHINA proposal to add 
references to trade-distorting subsidies and disguised trade barriers as 
examples of trade barriers, stating that the two measures are conceptu-
ally different and that trade subsidies are not a form of trade barrier. 
Regarding free market access by least developed countries, 
AUSTRALIA preferred the Millennium Declaration language.



Thursday, 26 April 2001  Vol. 5 No. 181 Page 2Earth Negotiations Bulletin
 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

INFORMATION FOR DECISION MAKING AND PARTICI-
PATION: Delegates agreed to text on: dissemination and use of satel-
lite data; multilateral actions by countries “with the cooperation of 
relevant international organizations, as appropriate”; achieving accu-
rate, long-term, reliable and consistent data; national-level actions by 
governments, “with the support of the international community, as 
appropriate”; incorporation of data and findings from research and 
monitoring activities into the decision-making process; and encour-
agement and provision of necessary technological infrastructure, in 
particular to developing countries.

Delegates were unable to agree on text relating to: harmonization 
of methodologies, data standards and indicators; accessibility guide-
lines for people with disabilities; development of information systems 
that make the sharing of valuable data possible, including earth obser-
vation data among scientists; development “and wider use by devel-
oping countries” of innovative technologies; incorporation of 
sustainable development performance information produced by major 
groups into decision making, planning, monitoring and reporting 
processes; and the importance of an effective role for the media.

Delegates deleted language on development and application of 
pollutant inventories and registers. The EU offered to withdraw its 
proposals on assessment and evaluation of international instruments as 
an input to the World Summit on Sustainable Development, and on 
legal instruments such as the Århus Convention, provided its proposed 
text on ensuring access to environmental information, public participa-
tion in decision making and access to judicial and administrative 
proceedings was accepted. The G-77/China opposed this, and all 
proposals remain bracketed. 

Text on global observing systems was not discussed, as it remains 
under consideration in the Drafting Group that is addressing atmo-
sphere. In addition, the section on indicators was not discussed, as it is 
under consideration in informal consultations.

DRAFTING GROUP III
This Group, chaired by David Stuart (Australia), began discussing 

the revised text of a draft decision on transport and also resumed 
consideration of the draft decision on atmosphere, starting with the 
section on international cooperation.

TRANSPORT: Delegates discussed procedural matters, particu-
larly with regard to amendments proposed by the EU. The EU said 
these proposals reflect matters emanating from the multi-stakeholder 
dialogue. The G-77/CHINA, supported by JAPAN, questioned 
whether the EU’s proposals were appropriate at this stage in the 
process. SAUDI ARABIA highlighted time constraints for consid-
ering new proposals. BRAZIL, supported by CANADA and CHINA, 
said the EU’s text contains prescriptive directives, not proposals. 
SWITZERLAND called for a cooperative spirit in discussing the 
document.

Delegates then considered the revised draft decision on transport. 
On the contribution of transport to development, the EU, supported by 
CANADA, suggested adding “safety and access” to alternative text on 
“sustainable transport services and systems,” while the G-77/CHINA 
opposed reference to sustainable transport in general. Regarding envi-
ronmental impacts of transport-related activities, SWITZERLAND, 
opposed by the G-77/CHINA, suggested retaining a reference to 
climate change. JAPAN called for the deletion of a paragraph on the 
transboundary movement of hazardous substances. Chair Stuart noted 
that the Bureau was considering whether this Group and the Group on 
energy should consider this matter jointly.

On international cooperation, CANADA expressed concern at the 
level of detail of the EU’s proposals. The EU outlined several of its 
proposals that it would be prepared to amend or omit, including 
removal of text supporting benchmarking environmental performance. 
However, she preferred retaining a reference to strategic environ-
mental and health assessments in major transportation investment 
plans and programmes, as well as text on the International Civil Avia-
tion Organization. AUSTRALIA opposed both references.

ATMOSPHERE: Delegates resumed discussion on the draft deci-
sion. On regional cooperation, the G-77/CHINA indicated a prefer-
ence for using the original text, but noted that some of the new 
proposals had merit. The EU preferred retaining its proposals. On 
recommendations at the national level, the EU, supported by SWIT-
ZERLAND and opposed by the G-77/CHINA, CANADA and 
AUSTRALIA, proposed that text on air quality management include 
specific reference to quality standards and emission limits. Regarding 
a reference to indoor air pollution, the G-77/CHINA proposed deleting 
text on using “short term plans” in urban areas. CANADA stated that 
some proposed text relates more to habitat than atmosphere. He ques-
tioned the need for text on “converting to non-ozone depleting 
substances or alternative technologies with the lowest contribution to 
global warming.” JAPAN and the US said other bodies have greater 
competence to address these issues, while SWITZERLAND said it 
was appropriate for the CSD to take a position.

Chair Stuart then asked delegates to consider bracketed text where 
agreement appeared close. On international cooperation, the EU and 
the G-77/CHINA indicated general support for the Chair’s compro-
mise text on assistance in capacity building, research, education and 
training, and institutional strengthening in preventing and combating 
air pollution.

Regarding text on the Montreal Protocol, delegates were unable to 
agree on whether to refer to “adequate replenishment,” “substantial 
replenishment” or “new and additional resources” in relation to the 
Multilateral Fund. In addition, delegates could not reach consensus 
over whether to “encourage” or “urge” countries to ratify or accede to 
the Protocol and its Amendments as soon as possible. On efforts under 
the Protocol to further examine ways of promoting alternatives to 
ozone-depleting substances, the G-77/CHINA and the US said they 
could support an EU proposal to refer to “cost-effective and afford-
able” alternatives. Chair Stuart said informal consultations would be 
required to resolve some outstanding issues. 

IN THE CORRIDORS
The North-South NGO network, operating under the umbrella of 

the CSD NGO Steering Committee, ended its decade-long relationship 
yesterday, following a withdrawal of the Northern caucus, as well as a 
number of its issues caucuses. The Women’s caucus was considering 
its future involvement on Wednesday evening. While the Southern 
caucus has indicated it will continue working on CSD issues along the 
same lines it had previously, the Northern caucus hopes to transform 
into an open-ended coalition. Some NGO participants indicated that 
the break-up stemmed from a lack of trust, differences in working 
styles among the members and, as one participant noted, obstacles to 
“injecting new life” into the process. Some observers lamented that the 
break-up was unfortunate, coming so soon after concerted efforts to 
consolidate institutional arrangements in the lead up to the World 
Summit on Sustainable Development.

THINGS TO LOOK FOR TODAY
DRAFTING GROUP I:  The Group will reconvene to negotiate 

the draft decision on energy from 8:00-11:00 pm in Conference Room 
5. The meeting will be preceded by informal/informal consultations on 
nuclear energy technologies from 3:00-6:00 pm in Conference Room 
9.

DRAFTING GROUP II: The Group will reconvene from 11:00 
am – 1:00 pm in Conference Room 3 to complete the second reading of 
the draft decision on international cooperation for an enabling environ-
ment, starting with the section on recommendations at the national 
level. The Group will meet from 3:00-6:00 pm at the same venue to 
consider information for decision making and participation.

DRAFTING GROUP III: This Group will meet from 10:00 am – 
1:00 pm in Conference Room 7 to discuss transport, and from 3:00-
6:00 pm in Conference Room 2 to discuss atmosphere.


